365

Costs of sexual traits: a mismatch between theoretical considerations and empirical evidence

JANNE S. KOTIAHO*

Department of Zoology, University of Western Australia, Nedlands, WA 6009, Australia

(Received 21 September 2000; revised 5 March 2001; accepted 26 March 2001)

ABSTRACT

Costs of sexual traits are of central importance to the theory of sexual selection. To qualify as a cost in line with theoretical models, empirical studies must demonstrate that sexual traits cause negative effects on one component of fitness of the trait bearer. Moreover, it must be demonstrated that the costs are differential such that negative effects on fitness are more severe for individuals in poor condition than for individuals in good condition. However, in the current literature, there is confusion over what qualifies as a cost, and costs are often anticipated based on findings of increased expenditure. Consequently, it seems that the generally accepted notion that sexual traits are costly is in fact based almost exclusively on indirect evidence and that direct empirical evidence is very scarce.

Key words: differential cost, expenditure, fitness cost, immunocompetence, predation, sexual selection, survival, viability.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	366
	(1) Costs in the theory of sexual selection	366
	(2) Costs in relation to indicator mechanism theory	366
II.	Direct costs	367
	(1) Predators and parasitoids	367
	(2) Socially imposed or competitive costs	368
III.	Indirect costs	368
	(1) Energy expenditure	368
	(2) Immunocompetence	369
IV.	Developmental costs	370
V.	Genetic costs	370
VI.	Differential costs	370
VII.	Conclusions and prospects	371
	(1) Plane of research	371
	(2) Direct costs	371
	(3) Indirect costs	371
	(4) New avenues of research	372
VIII.	Acknowledgements	372
	References	372

* Current address: Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, University of Jyväskylä, P.O. Box 35, FIN-40351 Jyväskylä, Finland. e-mail: jkotiaho@cc.jyu.fi

I. INTRODUCTION

(1) Costs in the theory of sexual selection

In the contemporary literature concerning sexual selection it has been widely accepted that sexual traits that increase individual fitness must have some costs balancing their benefit. However, while concentrating carefully on the possible fitness benefits that individuals derive from exaggerated sexual traits (see e.g. Andersson, 1994; Johnstone, 1995; Møller and Alatalo, 1999), students of sexual selection have simultaneously introduced the concept of 'cost' with little consideration of what is actually required for a trait to be costly. Costs of sexual traits are of critical importance to our understanding of sexual selection because at some stage both currently favoured theories, the Fisherian self-reinforcing theory (Fisher, 1958; Lande, 1981; Kirkpatrick, 1982; Pomiankowski, Iwasa and Nee, 1991) and the indicator mechanism theory (Fisher, 1958; Williams, 1966; Zahavi, 1975, 1977; Andersson, 1982, 1986; Nur and Hasson, 1984; Pomiankowski, 1987; Grafen, 1990a, b; Iwasa, Pomiankowski and Nee, 1991; Johnstone and Grafen, 1992; Iwasa and Pomiankowski, 1994; Getty, 1998), require that sexual traits are costly. Furthermore, in the majority of models, costs have been explicitly described as having a negative influence on the fitness, and in particular on the survival, of the trait bearer (e.g. Andersson, 1982, 1986; Kirkpatrick, 1982; Nur and Hasson, 1984; Pomiankowski, 1987; Grafen, 1990a, b; Iwasa et al., 1991; Pomiankowski et al., 1991, but see Kodric-Brown and Brown, 1984). Therefore, if producing or maintaining sexual traits does not have a negative influence on the possessor's fitness it can not be inferred as being costly. If fitness is described simply as viability multiplied by reproductive success (although ultimately fitness can only be measured in terms of offspring produced in future generations), then, to count as an evolutionarily significant cost, an increase in the magnitude of sexual traits has to either increase mortality or decrease reproductive success. Here, it is imperative to make a distinction between expenditure and costs; traits may require expenditure of energy, time, etc. without being evolutionarily costly in terms of reduced future lifetime reproductive success. In the recent literature on the costs of sexual traits, definitions of cost have often been neglected and on many occasions the evidence for traits causing evolutionarily significant fitness costs is at best circumstantial.

(2) Costs in relation to indicator mechanism theory

Fisherian and indicator mechanism sexual selection models differ with respect to the importance of the costs of sexual traits. In Fisherian models, costs become important late when the exaggeration of the sexual trait is so large that natural selection prevents any further enlargement. In these models, the only requirement for costs is that they must reduce survival irrespective of phenotypic condition or genetic quality of individuals. By contrast, indicator mechanism has three main assumptions in which costs have a much more pronounced role (e.g. Grafen, 1990*a*; Johnstone and Grafen, 1992). Firstly, the production or maintenance of sexual traits must cause costs that reduce the fitness of their bearer. It is imperative that these costs increase in parallel with the increasing investment in the sexual trait. The second assumption, that sexual traits must be dependent on phenotypic and genotypic condition (Andersson, 1986; Grafen, 1990*a*; Rowe and Houle, 1996), does not itself incorporate costs but is directly linked to the third assumption that does: the marginal costs of sexual traits must be less for males in good condition than for males in poor condition (Grafen, 1990*a*; Rowe and Houle, 1996). In other words, there must be differential costs depending on the condition of the individuals. When the above conditions are met, sexual traits act as reliable indicators of overall genetic quality and become sexually selected exactly because they reduce one component of the fitness of their bearer. Recently, Getty (1998) argued that it is theoretically possible for there not only to be differential costs of traits on different quality males, but in addition there may also be differential benefits that could be realised through longer survival of better quality males.

Generally, costs that result from sexual traits may be divided into two classes depending on how the negative effect on fitness is manifest. If the trait has an immediate negative influence on the individual's fitness, as in the event of predation or parasitism, we may talk about direct costs. Conversely, if the negative influence on fitness is not immediate but rather arises through physiological effects such as increased energy expenditure or reduced immunocompetence we may talk about indirect or physiological costs.

Below, I will treat costs only in the light of the indicator mechanism of sexual selection. I will consider what is needed firstly for direct and secondly for indirect costs to be evolutionarily significant costs of sexual traits.

II. DIRECT COSTS

(1) Predators and parasitoids

It is a common observation that, in locating their prey, predators and parasitoids exploit sexual traits (Table 1) (see also Burk, 1982; Lima and Dill, 1990; Sakaluk, 1990; Magnhagen, 1991; Verrell, 1991; Zuk and Kolluru, 1998). There is also some evidence that individuals are able to adjust their sexual traits in response to predation or parasitism risk (Spangler, 1984; Endler, 1987; Magurran and Segher, 1990; Magurran, 1991; Candolin, 1997, 1998; Kotiaho *et al.*, 1998*a*; Hedrick, 2000, see also Lima and Dill, 1990; Sakaluk, 1990), and that predation has shaped the evolution of sexual traits at the population level (Moodie, 1972; Farr, 1975; Endler, 1978, 1980, 1982; Tuttle and Ryan, 1981; Belwood and Morris, 1987; Zuk, Simmons and Cupp, 1993; Rotenberry *et al.*, 1996). These three lines of evidence could be taken as an indication that predation and parasitism have the potential to act as an evolutionarily significant cost on sexual traits.

However, before this potential is realised we need to consider if the costs that are manifest through predation or parasitism are able to fulfil the

Table 1. Studies examining predation and parasitisim in relation to sexual traits (The columns give the study species, the type of cost i.e. predation or parasitism, type of trait, whether the study was a field or laboratory (Lab) study, whether the study was experimental (Exp), correlational (Corr) or observational (Obs) and the reference.)

Species	Cost type	Trait type	Field or lab	Study type	Reference
Birds					
Hirundo rustica	Predation	Morphology	Field	Corr	Møller and Nielsen (1997)
Fish					
Gasterosteus aculeatus	Predation	Colour	Lab	Exp	Moodie (1972)
Frogs/lizards					
Physalaemus pustulosus	Predation	Auditory	Field	Corr	Tuttle and Ryan (1981)
P. pustulosus	Predation	Auditory	Lab	Exp	Ryan et al. (1982)
P. pustulosus	Predation	Auditory	Field	Corr	Ryan et al. (1981)
Hyla boulengeri	Predation	Auditory	Lab & Field	Exp	Tuttle and Ryan (1981)
Leptodactylus pentadactylus	Predation	Auditory	Lab & Field	Exp	Tuttle and Ryan (1981)
Lacerta agilis	Predation	Colour	Field	Exp	Olsson (1993)
Insects/arthropods				*	× ,
Amblycorypha uhleri	Predation	Auditory	Field	Obs	Walker (1964)
Anurogryllus celerinictus	Predation	Auditory	Field	Obs	Bell (1979)
Hygrolycosa rubrofasciata	Predation	Auditory	Lab	Corr	Kotiaho <i>et al.</i> $(1998a)$
Tettigonidae spp.	Predation	Auditory	Field	Exp	Belwood and Morris (1987)
Photuris spp.	Predation	Luminescence	Field	Exp	Lloyd and Wing (1983)
T. oceanicus	Predation	Auditory	Lab	Exp	Bailey and
		,		1	Haythornthwaite (1998)
T. oceanicus	Parasitism	Auditory	Field	Corr	Zuk et al. (1995b)
T. oceanicus	Parasitism	Auditory	Field	Corr	Zuk et al. (1998)
Ceratitis capitata	Predation	Olfactory	Field	Exp	Hendrichs and
1		,		1	Hendrichs (1998)
C. capitata	Predation	Olfactory	Field	Exp	Hendrichs et al. (1994)
Gryllus integer	Parasitism	Auditory	Lab	Exp	Cade (1975)
G. integer	Parasitism	Auditory	Field	Exp	Cade (1981)
<i>Gryllus</i> spp.	Parasitism	Auditory	Field	Exp	Walker (1993)
Gryllus lineaticeps	Parasitism	Auditory	Lab	Exp	Wagner (1996)
Sciarasaga quadrata	Parasitism	Auditory	Field	Corr	Allen (1995)
Scapteriscus acletus	Parasitism	Auditory	Field	Exp	Mangold (1978)
Scapteriscus spp.	Parasitism	Auditory	Field	Exp	Fowler (1987)
Poecilimon spp.	Parasitism	Auditory	Field	Exp	Lehmann and Heller (1998

assumptions of the indicator mechanism. For the present purposes, the differences between predation and parasitism through parasitoids are not important. Thus, predation and parasitism will be grouped together under the term predation. Let us consider signalling rate as an example of a sexual trait. The key assumption of indicator mechanisms is that sexual traits are condition dependent as well as costly, and most importantly that males in better condition are better able to bear the costs of increased signalling. In other words, individuals in better condition should have a lower cost/benefit ratio for a given rate of signalling. If the total signalling rate is held constant, then the only way that the condition of the signaller can affect the cost/benefit ratio is through changing the cost i.e. predation rate. If individuals in better phenotypic condition are better at escaping predation and signalling rate is positively dependent on condition, the condition-dependent escape rate would reduce the cost of signalling in males that are signalling the most, thus fulfilling the assumptions of indicator mechanism theory.

To date there is no empirical evidence that would fulfil these criteria and, in fact, these criteria have not been addressed in any empirical examination. Before these kinds of data are available it is impossible to draw conclusions concerning the potential for predation to be the condition-dependent differential cost that is required by the indicator models.

(2) Socially imposed or competitive costs

Another possible set of direct costs may be realised through socially imposed costs. This means costs that are mediated through incitement of increased aggression from competitors (Maynard Smith and Harper, 1988; Johnstone and Norris, 1993). Empirical evidence for increased aggression towards displaying males is not rare (e.g. Jones, 1966; Kodric-Brown, 1983; Peschke, 1987; McKaye, Louda and Stauffer, 1990; Simmons and Bailey, 1993; Borgia, 1995; Candolin, 1997; Kotiaho et al., 1999), but there is no direct evidence that increased levels of aggression from competitors cause evolutionarily significant costs for displaying males. Since aggression in animals rarely results in the death of one of the opponents (e.g. Huntingford and Turner, 1987), socially imposed costs may be more likely to be mediated either directly through decreased reproductive success, or indirectly through increased energy expenditure.

III. INDIRECT COSTS

(1) Energy expenditure

An increased energy expenditure or mass loss during the production or display of sexual traits is not in itself an indication that sexual traits are evolutionarily costly; it merely demonstrates that producing or displaying these traits requires energy. To show that energy expenditure on sexual traits poses significant fitness costs it must be demonstrated that this increased energy expenditure has a negative effect on individual fitness. This effect may arise through decreased survival or reduction in future reproductive success. However, if the energy expenditure of a sexual display can be compensated without negative effects on fitness, no matter how large the energy expenditure, it can not be considered to be an evolutionary meaningful cost. There are several studies demonstrating that the energy expenditure of sexual signalling and displays can be extensive, increasing the resting metabolic levels in some cases by more than two orders of magnitude (Table 2) (see also Ryan, 1988; Balmford, Thomas and Jones, 1993; Prestwich, 1994). However, there is evidence only from two organisms, barn swallows Hirundo rustica and drumming wolf spiders Hygrolycosa rubrofasciata, that increased energy expenditure results in evolutionarily significant costs i.e. reduces the survival of the individual (Møller, 1989; Møller and de Lope 1994; Mappes et al., 1996; Saino, Bolzern and Møller, 1997*a*; Kotiaho *et al.*, 1998*b*; Kotiaho, 2000). However, in barn swallows there is no evidence for (or against due to the low power of the test) an increased energy consumption of males with elongated tail streamers (Cuervo et al., 1996, see also Evans and Thomas, 1992) leading to uncertainty as to the basis for the mortality costs of the manipulated streamers.

An indirect energetic cost of sexual traits may arise in predatory species by making individuals more conspicuous to their own prey (Grether and Grey, 1996). Grether and Grey (1996) found evidence that in the rubyspot damselfly *Hetaerina americana* ornamental wing coloration reduces the prey capture success in males compared to nonornamented females, and also in females that are manipulated to have ornaments compared to control females. Males that were manipulated to have larger colour spots suffered increased mortality compared to control males, which could be attributable to lower success in prey capture (Grether, 1997). These studies provide the first and only evidence for a

Species Trait type		Ref.		
Birds				
Centrocercus urophasianus	Display	Vehrencamp et al. (1989)		
Gallinago media	Display	Höglund et al. (1992)		
Nectarinia johnstoni	Ornament	Evans and Thomas (1992)		
Frogs				
Hyla cinerea	Acoustic	Prestwich et al. (1989)		
Hyla gratiosa	Acoustic	Prestwich et al. (1989)		
Hyla microcephala	Acoustic	Wells and Taigen (1989)		
Hyla squirella	Acoustic	Prestwich et al. (1989)		
Hyla versicolor	Acoustic	Taigen and Wells (1985)		
Hyperolius marmoratus	Acoustic	Grafe et al. (1992)		
Hyperolius viridiflavus	Acoustic	Grafe et al. (1992)		
Physalaemus pustulosus	Acoustic	Bucher et al. (1982)		
Pseudacris crucifer	Acoustic	Taigen et al. (1985)		
Insects/Arthropods		<u> </u>		
Achroia grisella	Ultrasonic	Reinhold et al. (1998)		
Anurogryllus arboreus	Acoustic	Prestwich and Walker (1981)		
Anurogryllus muticus	Acoustic	Lee and Lower (1993)		
Cystosoma saundersii	Acoustic	Mac Nally and Young (1981)		
<i>Euconocephalus nasutus</i>	Acoustic	Stevens and Josephson (1977)		
Gryllotalpa australis	Acoustic	Kavanagh (1987)		
Hygrolycosa rubrofasciata	Acoustic	Kotiaho et al. $(1998b)$		
Linyphila litigiosa	Display	Watson and Lighton (1994)		
Neoconocephalus robustus	Acoustic	Stevens and Josephson (1977)		
Oecanthus celerinictus	Acoustic	Prestwich and Walker (1981)		
Oecanthus quadripunctatus	Acoustic	Prestwich and Walker (1981)		
Requena verticalis	Acoustic	Bailey et al. (1993)		
Teleogryllus commodus Acoustic		Kavanagh (1987)		

Table 2. *Studies examining energy expenditure in relation to sexual traits* (The columns give the study species, type of trait, and reference.)

sexual trait to be costly in terms of reduced survival through conspicuousness to their own prey. However, this mechanism of costs may be operative in several other systems as well; the requirements being that the species is predatory and has conspicuous sexual traits that are exposed also during prey capture. When empirically pursuing this possible cost mechanism of sexual traits, care has to be taken not to infer costs from reduced prey capture efficiency alone. In the above damselfly system (Grether and Grey, 1996; Grether, 1997), the link, although indirect, between reduced prey capture success and increased mortality has been established.

(2) Immunocompetence

Recently, reduced immunocompetence has been raised as a potential cost of sexual traits (Folstad and Karter, 1992, see also Hamilton and Zuk, 1982).

Reduced efficiency of the immune system may be caused by the immunosuppressive effects of androgens or other self-regulating biochemicals that promote the expression of sexual traits (Grossman, 1985; Folstad and Karter, 1992). However, this new field of sexual selection research seems to be full of controversy: there is no consensus on the mechanisms that causally link the development or maintenance of sexual traits to the immune system (Møller, 1995; Owens and Short, 1995a, b; Sheldon and Verhulst, 1996; Westneat and Birkhead, 1998), there is disagreement over how the immunocompetence should be measured (Lochmiller, 1995; Siva-Jothy 1995; Sheldon and Verhulst, 1996; Zuk and Johnsen, 1998), and an agreement upon formal definitions of the various terms is yet to be established (Skarstein, 1996). Generally, it has been assumed that maintaining appropriate immunocompetence is energetically demanding and therefore a compromise in resource allocation between immunocompetence

and sexual traits is unavoidable (Wedekind and Folstad, 1994; Westneat and Birkhead, 1998). However, instead of being caused by resource limitation, the latest development in this area points out that suppressed immunocompetence during stress (e.g. during development or display of sexual traits) may be an adaptation to avoid inappropriate immune responses to self (immunopathology) (Folstad and Skarstein, 1997; Hillgarth, Ramenofsky and Wingfield, 1997; Råberg et al., 1998; Westneat and Birkhead, 1998). Nevertheless, whatever the mechanisms are, for reduced immunocompetence to function as an evolutionary cost of sexual traits it must be shown explicitly that there is a reduction in fitness that results from the reduced efficiency of the immune system that in turn is caused by investment in or possession of sexual traits.

There are few studies that have found correlational evidence for the negative relationship between a magnitude of sexual trait and a measure of immunocompetence (Zuk, Johnsen and Maclarty, 1995*a*; Møller, Kimball and Erritzøe, 1996; Salvador et al., 1996; Skarstein and Folstad, 1996; Saino et al., 1997 b). Recent evidence suggests that investing in sexual traits may be associated with reduction in some parts of immune defence, while other parts may remain uninfluenced (Zuk and Johnsen, 1998). There is also some experimental evidence from barn swallows Hirundo rustica suggesting that exaggerated sexual traits do indeed reduce the efficiency of immune defence (Saino and Møller, 1996; Saino et al., 1997a). Furthermore, there is evidence that a positive association exists between the immune response after experimental challenge of the immune system and long-term survival (Saino et al., 1997 a). However, this evidence is not sufficient to show that there is a cost of reduced immunocompetence. Instead, it must be shown that there exists a causal link between reduced immunocompetence and reduced survival. Before these data are available reduced immunocompetence can not be considered to be costly in an evolutionarily meaningful way.

IV. DEVELOPMENTAL COSTS

Developmental costs may be mediated through time or energy expenditure on developing sexual traits, differential mortality during the development of sexual traits, or a combination of the two. It has also been suggested that in hemimetabolous insects mortality may be caused by physical hindrance during moulting (Arnqvist, 1994), but evidence for this is yet to be forthcoming. There is some evidence from dung beetles Onthophagus taurus (Hunt and Simmons, 1997) and water striders *Gerris odontogaster* (Arnqvist, 1994), that the increased development or moulting time of individuals with larger sexual traits renders them at a greater risk of predation. However, despite the evidence for a significant increase in time expenditure of developing larger sexual traits (e.g. Hunt and Simmons, 1997), the possible reduction in reproductive success resulting from this time expenditure has not been empirically demonstrated. Generally, the requirements derived in the above sections need to be fulfilled before developmental costs arising through energy or time expenditure or through predation can be inferred as being evolutionarily costly.

V. GENETIC COSTS

A recent study on guppies *Poecilia reticulata* suggests that males that bear genes for attractive traits may also bear genes that reduce other fitness components (Brooks, 2000, see also Etges, 1996; Wedell and Tregenza, 1999). In his study, Brooks (2000) found that there was a strong negative genetic correlation between male sexual attractiveness and offspring survival to maturity. Thus, a cost of attractive sexual traits may arise through the reduced survival of offspring. This avenue of costs may be supportive of indicator models of sexual selection only if there exists a positive genetic correlation between attractiveness and some other fitness component that negates the viability cost of attractiveness; so far there is no evidence for such counterbalancing genetic correlation (Brooks, 2000).

VI. DIFFERENTIAL COSTS

Even if we can demonstrate that a sexual trait directly causes an evolutionarily significant cost for the trait bearer, it is not enough. If we want to test the indicator mechanism of sexual selection, we must seek for differential costs. Differential costs are of vital importance because they ensure the honesty and evolutionary stability of sexual traits (Grafen, 1990*a*; Johnstone, 1995). What is now needed are studies assessing whether the evolutionarily significant costs of a given sexual trait are smaller for individuals in good condition than they are for individuals in poor condition. Because it may be expected that individuals in good condition have both large sexual traits and high survival, differential costs can not be revealed by correlations. Therefore, the best way to test for differential costs is experimental manipulation of both condition and sexual trait and then to study the interaction effect between trait and condition on survival.

There are only two studies that have tested for differential costs of traits. A study on barn swallows *Hirundo rustica* showed that increasing the length of the tail feathers of the males reduced their survival, but that naturally long-tailed males were better able to withstand the cost (Møller and de Lope, 1994). This study provides indirect evidence that in barn swallows tail length may cause differential costs for males. Direct evidence for differential costs was recently found in a drumming wolf spider Hygrolycosa rubrofasciata (Kotiaho, 2000). Simultaneous manipulation of sexual signalling rate and condition revealed a differential survival cost of signalling such that males manipulated to be in good condition survived better the increased signalling rate than males that were manipulated to be in poor condition.

VII. CONCLUSIONS AND PROSPECTS

Even in the most recent literature, costs are repeatedly mixed with expenditure and indirect costs are inferred as being direct evidence for costliness. In future empirical studies, extreme care should be taken that the real fitness costs are strictly separated from expenditure; while studies demonstrating that sexual traits cause expenditure are necessary and valuable, they should not be interpreted as providing direct evidence for the notion that sexual traits are costly in an evolutionarily meaningful way and in line with the theoretical requirements for costs. In addition, more attention should be paid in explicitly testing the assumptions of indicator mechanism of sexual selection, and in particular the assumption of differential costs.

(1) Plane of research

Comparative (e.g. Promislow, 1992; Promislow, Montgomerie and Martin, 1992; Owens and Bennett, 1994) or population-level (e.g. Endler, 1980, 1982; Belwood and Morris, 1987) studies are not useful in gaining empirical evidence for sexual traits being costly and costs being condition-dependent in a way that the indicator mechanism of sexual selection requires. This is because the tradeoff between trait size and survival occurs within individuals not across individuals or populations. Therefore, to test for the relevant costs of sexual traits in line with the indicator mechanism of sexual selection, research must be conducted at an individual level and not across populations or species. Furthermore, as condition-dependent costs can not be revealed by observational correlations (because high-quality individuals have both large sexual traits and high survival), experimental approaches that manipulate both sexual traits and condition simultaneously are needed. The best way to test whether traits are costly and condition-dependent is to study the interaction effect between trait and condition on survival. If simultaneous manipulations produce an interaction effect on survival such that the difference in survival between individuals with large sex traits and good or poor condition is greater than the survival difference between individuals with small sex traits and good or poor condition, it can be taken as strong empirical evidence for the indicator mechanism of sexual selection.

(2) Direct costs

In particular, the role of direct costs for the indicator mechanism needs further and more rigorous empirical testing. There are no empirical studies that have attempted to evaluate the importance of predation on the indicator mechanism within the assumptions of these models, and therefore whether predation can or cannot be an evolutionarily significant cost on sexual traits remains to be tested. These tests should focus on determining if success in predator avoidance is dependent on condition and thus if the cost is a differential cost. If future work proves these aspects to be true, predation may be seen as a significant evolutionary cost that fulfils the assumptions of the indicator mechanism.

(3) Indirect costs

There is ample evidence that sexual displays are energetically expensive but barely any that directly shows how this energy expenditure causes negative effects on fitness. While the need for more detailed energetic studies in relation to sexual traits is great, the need for relating the results from these studies directly to the real fitness costs is even greater.

A new area of research is currently focusing on the relationship between sexual traits and immunocompetence. However, more data are needed firstly empirically to establish whether investment in sexual traits does reduce immunocompetence, and secondly, to determine if sexual traits can be evolutionarily costly through this reduction. It is imperative that students of this subject focus on the fitness effects of reduced immunocompetence that are mediated through investment in sexual traits. What is needed is a simultaneous manipulation of both immune defence and sexual traits coupled with an examination of the effects of different combinations of these two on survival. Such experimental tests would give us an insight into whether sexual traits may be evolutionarily costly through reduced immunocompetence.

(4) New avenues of research

Viability costs are the most often addressed, yet not the only possible avenue for fitness costs of sexual traits. Costs of sexual traits may also emerge through a reduction in future reproductive success (selflimiting sexual selection: Andersson, 1994). This approach to the costs of sexual selection is difficult and laborious to investigate empirically, since it requires measurements of lifetime reproductive success in relation to expression of natural and experimentally manipulated sexual traits. This possibly explains the lack of empirical studies examining the costs of sexual traits through reduced future reproductive success. Empirical studies aimed to determine costs mediated through reduced future reproductive success would be of great value to our understanding of costs of sexual traits.

An exciting new field of costs is emerging from the possibility that there are genetic costs through negative genetic correlations between the expression of sexual traits and survival. However, to function as a cost for indicator models of sexual selection there must be negating positive genetic correlations between trait expression and some other fitness component. This should be tested along with the negative effects.

Differential costs are vitally important for the theory of sexual selection through the indicator mechanism. However, currently there is almost no empirical work that has directly addressed differential costliness of sexual traits (but see Møller and de Lope, 1994; Kotiaho, 2000). This is an area that desperately needs more experimental research. Studies on this subject will be of great importance for our understanding of the costliness of sexual traits in line with modern theories of sexual selection. A further advancement in the empirical study of costs would be an attempt to quantify the combined effect of different sources of costs. It is more than likely that sexual signalling may simultaneously attract costs from several different sources and studying one of these is not enough to reveal the whole picture. Increased predation risk, increased energy expenditure, decreased immunocompetence and decreased future reproductive success may work in concert to produce the overall evolutionarily significant cost on sexual traits. Thus, even if we do not find a negative effect on fitness while studying these possible avenues of costs individually, a study combining them could still find the expected negative effect.

To conclude, it is apparent from the sexual selection literature that a currently favoured paradigm is the notion that sexual traits are costly. However, there is little direct empirical evidence actually to verify this assumption. Lack of direct evidence is by no means a phenomenon unique to costliness of sexual traits. Indeed, the use of observational and correlational evidence and indirect measures of fitness in general are common also in many other fields of evolutionary and behavioural ecology (e.g. Reznick, 1992; Kempenaers and Sheldon, 1997; Sheldon, 2000). Two recent examples from fields closely related to sexual selection (Alatalo, Mappes and Elgar, 1997; Simmons et al., 1999) call for caution in accepting the currently favoured paradigm too easily. Costs of sexual signalling are far from being self evident and with few exceptions the data do not provide direct general support for the assumption that sexual traits are costly in line with the indicator mechanism models of sexual selection.

VIII. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank Rauno V. Alatalo, Ulrika Candolin, John Hunt, Rufus A. Johnstone, Silja Parri, Mikael Puurtinen, Dale Roberts, Leigh W. Simmons and Joseph L. Tomkins for comments on the manuscript, and Joseph L. Tomkins for helpful and encouraging discussions. I was funded by the Academy of Finland.

IX. REFERENCES

ALATALO, R. V., MAPPES, J. & ELGAR, M. A. (1997). Heritabilities and paradigm shifts. *Nature* **385**, 402–403.

ALLEN, G. R. (1995). The biology of the phonotactic parasitoid, Homotrixa sp. (Diptera: Tachinidae), and its impact on the survival of male *Sciarasaga quadrata* (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae) in the field. *Ecol. Ent.* **20**, 103–110.

- ANDERSSON, M. (1982). Sexual selection, natural selection and quality advertisement. *Biol. J. Linn. Soc.* 17, 375–393.
- ANDERSSON, M. (1986). Evolution of condition-dependent sex ornaments and mating preferences: sexual selection based on viability differences. *Evolution* **40**, 804–816.
- ANDERSSON, M. (1994). Sexual Selection. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- ARNQVIST, G. (1994). The cost of male secondary sexual traits: developmental constraints during ontogeny in a sexually dimorphic water strider. Am. Nat. 144, 119–132.
- BAILEY, W. J. & HAYTHORNTHWAITE, S. (1998). Risks of calling by the field cricket *Teleogryllus oceanicus*; potential predation by Australian long-eared bats. *J. Zool.* 244, 505–513.
- BAILEY, W. J., WITHERS, P. C., ENDERSBY, M. & GAULL, K. (1993). The energetic costs of calling in the bushcricket *Requena verticalis* (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae: Listroscelidinae). *J. Exp. Biol.* **178**, 21–37.
- BALMFORD, A., THOMAS, A. L. R. & JONES, I. L. (1993). Aerodynamics and the evolution of long tails in birds. *Nature* 361, 628–631.
- BELL, P. D. (1979). Acoustic attraction of herons by crickets. *J. N. Y. Ent. Soc.* 87, 126–127.
- BELWOOD, J. J. & MORRIS, G. K. (1987). Bat predation and its influence on calling behavior in neotropical katydids. *Science* 238, 64–67.
- BORGIA, G. (1995). Bower destruction and sexual competition in the satin bowebird (*Ptilonorhyncus violaceus*). Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. **18**, 91–100.
- BROOKS, R. (2000). Negative genetic correlation between male sexual attractiveness and survival. *Nature* **406**, 67–70.
- BUCHER, T. L., RYAN, M. J. & BARTHOLOMEW, G. E. (1982). Oxygen consumption during resting, calling, and nest building in the frog *Physalaemus pustulosus*. *Physiol. Zool.* 55, 10–22.
- BURK, T. (1982). Evolutionary significance of predation on sexually signaling males. *Fla. Ent.* **65**, 90–104.
- CADE, W. H. (1975). Acoustically orienting parasitoids: fly phonotaxis to cricket song. *Science* 190, 1312–1313.
- CADE, W. H. (1981). Field cricket spacing, and the phonotaxis of crickets and parasitoid flies to clumped and isolated cricket songs. Z. Tierpsychol. 55, 365–375.
- CANDOLIN, U. (1997). Predation risk affects courtship and attractiveness of competing threespine stickleback males. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **41**, 81–87.
- CANDOLIN, U. (1998). Reproduction under predation risk and the trade-off between current and future reproduction in the threespine stickleback. *Proc R. Soc. Lond. B* 265, 1171–1175.
- CUERVO, J. J., DE LOPE, F., MØLLER, A. P. & MORENO, J. (1996). Energetic cost of tail streamers in the barn swallow (*Hirundo rustica*). Oecologia 108, 252–258.
- ENDLER, J. A. (1978). A predator's view of animal color patterns. Evol. Biol. 11, 319–364.
- ENDLER, J. A. (1980). Natural selection on colour patterns in *Poecilia reticulata. Evolution* **34**, 76–91.
- ENDLER, J. A. (1982). Convergent and divergent effects of natural selection on colour patterns in two fish faunas. *Evolution* **36**, 178–188.
- ENDLER, J. A. (1987). Predation, light intensity and courtship behaviour in *Poecilia reticulata* (Pisces: Poeciliidae). *Anim. Behav.* 35, 1376–1385.

- ETGES, W. J. (1996). Sexual selection operating in a wild population of *Drosophila robusta*. *Evolution* **50**, 2095–2100.
- EVANS, M. & THOMAS, A. L. R. (1992). The aerodynamic and mechanical effects of elongated tails in the scarlet-tufted malachite sunbird: measuring the cost of a handicap. *Anim. Behav.* **43**, 337–347.
- FARR, J. A. (1975). The role of predation in the evolution of social behavior of natural populations of the guppy, *Poecilia reticulata* (Pisces: Poeciliidae). *Evolution* 29, 151–158.
- FISHER, R. A. (1958). The Genetical Theory of Natural selection. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- FOLSTAD, I. & KARTER, A. J. (1992). Parasites, bright males, and the immunocompetence handicap. *Am. Nat.* **139**, 603–622.
- FOLSTAD, I. & SKARSTEIN, F. (1997). Is male germ line control creating avenues for female choice? *Behav. Ecol.* 8, 109–112.
- FOWLER, H. G. (1987). Field behavior of *Euphasiopteryx depleta* (Diptera: Tachinidae): phonotactically orienting parasitoids of mole crickets (Orthoptera: Gryllotalpidae: *Scapteriscus*). *J. N. Y. Ent. Soc.* **95**, 474–480.
- GETTY, T. (1998). Handicap signalling: when fecundity and viability do not add up. *Anim. Behav.* 56, 127–130.
- GRAFE, T. U., SCHMUCK, R. & LINSENMAIR, K. E. (1992). Reproductive energetics of the african reed frogs, *Hyperolius viridiflavus* and *Hyperolius marmoratus*. *Physiol. Zool.* 65, 153–171.
- GRAFEN, A. (1990*a*). Biological signals as handicaps. *J. theor. Biol.* 144, 517–546.
- GRAFEN, A. (1990b). Sexual selection unhandicapped by the fisher process. J. theor. Biol. 144, 473–516.
- GRETHER, G. F. (1997). Survival cost of an intrasexually selected ornament in a damselfly. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 264, 207–210.
- GRETHER, G. F. & GREY, R. M. (1996). Novel cost of a sexually selected trait in the rubyspot damselfly *Hetaerina americana*: conspicuousness to prey. *Behav. Ecol.* 7, 465–473.
- GROSSMAN, C. J. (1985). Interactions between the gonadal steroids and the immune system. *Science* 227, 257–261.
- HAMILTON, W. D. & ZUK, M. (1982). Heritable true fitness and bright birds: a role for parasites? *Science* **218**, 384–387.
- HEDRICK, A. V. (2000). Crickets with extravagant mating songs compensate for predation risk with extra caution. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 267, 671–675.
- HENDRICHS, J., KATSOYANNOS, B. I., WORNOAYPORN, V. & HENDRICHS, M. A. (1994). Odour-mediated foraging by yellow jacket wasps (Hymenoptera: Vespidae): predation on leks of pheromone-calling mediterranean fruit fly males (Diptera: Tephritidae). *Oecologia* **99**, 88–94.
- HENDRICHS, M. A. & HENDRICHS, J. (1998). Perfumed to be killed: interception of mediterranean fruit fly (Diptera: Tephritidae) sexual signaling by predatory foraging wasps (Hymenoptera: Vespidae). *Behavior* **91**, 228–234.
- HILLGARTH, N., RAMENOFSKY, M. & WINGFIELD, J. (1997). Testosterone and sexual selection. *Behav. Ecol.* 8, 108–109.
- HÖGLUND, J., KÅLÅS, J. A. & FISKE, P. (1992). The costs of secondary sexual characters in the lekking great snipe (Gallinago media). Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol. 30, 309–315.
- HUNT, J. & SIMMONS, L. W. (1997). Patterns of fluctuating asymmetry in beetle horns: an experimental examination of the honest signalling hypothesis. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **41**, 109–114.
- HUNTINGFORD, F. & TURNER, A. (1987). *Animal conflict*. New York: Chapman & Hall.
- Iwasa, Y. & POMIANKOWSKI, A. (1994). The evolution of mate preferences for multiple handicaps. *Evolution* 48, 853–867.

- IWASA, Y., POMIANKOWSKI, A. & NEE, S. (1991). The evolution of costly mate preferences II. The "handicap" principle. *Evolution* **45**, 1431–1442.
- JOHNSTONE, R. A. (1995). Sexual selection, honest advertisement and the handicap principle: reviewing the evidence. *Biol. Rev.* **70**, 1–65.
- JOHNSTONE, R. A. & GRAFEN, A. (1992). Error-prone signalling. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 248, 229–233.
- JOHNSTONE, R. A. & NORRIS, K. (1993). Badges of status and the cost of aggression. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **32**, 127–134.
- JONES, M. D. R. (1966). The acoustic behavior of the bushcricket *Pholidoptera griseoaptera*. I. Alternation, syncronism, and rivalry between males. *J. Exp. Biol.* 45, 15–30.
- KAVANAGH, M. W. (1987). The efficiency of sound production in two cricket species, Gryllotalpa australis and Teleogryllus commodud (Orthoptera, Grylloidae). *J. Exp. Biol.* **130**, 107–119.
- KEMPENAERS, B. & SHELDON, B. C. (1997). Studying paternity and paternal care: pitfalls and problems. *Anim. Behav.* 53, 423–427.
- KIRKPATRICK, M. (1982). Sexual selection and the evolution of female choice. *Evolution* 36, 1–12.
- KODRIC-BROWN, A. (1983). Determinants of male reproductive success in pupfish (*Cyprinodon pecosensis*). Anim. Behav. 31, 128–137.
- KODRIC-BROWN, A. & BROWN, J. H. (1984). Truth in advertising: the kinds of traits favoured by sexual selection. Am. Nat. 124, 309–323.
- KOTIAHO, J., ALATALO, R. V., MAPPES, J., PARRI, S. & RIVERO, A. (1998*a*). Male mating success and risk of predation in a wolf spider: a balance between sexual and natural selection? *J. Anim. Ecol.* 67, 287–291.
- KOTIAHO, J. S. (2000). Testing the assumptions of conditional handicap theory: costs and condition dependence of a sexually selected trait. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 48, 188–194.
- KOTIAHO, J. S., ALATALO, R. V., MAPPES, J., NIELSEN, M. G., PARRI, S. & RIVERO, A. (1998b). Energetic cost of size and sexual signalling in a wolf spider. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 265, 2203–2209.
- KOTIAHO, J. S., ALATALO, R. V., MAPPES, J. & PARRI, S. (1999). Honesty of agonistic signalling and effects of size and motivation asymmetry in contests. *Acta Ethologica* 2, 13–21.
- LANDE, R. (1981). Models of speciation by sexual selection on polygenic traits. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 78, 3721–3725.
- LEE, H.-J. & LOWER, W. (1993). The mating strategy of the male short-tailed cricket, *Anurogryllus muticus* de Geer. *Ethology* 95, 327–344.
- LEHMANN, G. U. C. & HELLER, K.-G. (1998). Bushcricket song structure and predation by the acoustically orienting parasitoid fly *Therobia leonidei* (Diptera: Tachinidae: Ormiini). *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **43**, 239–245.
- LIMA, S. L. & DILL, L. M. (1990). Behavioral decisions made under the risk of predation: a review and prospectus. *Can. J. Zool.* 68, 619–640.
- LLOYD, J. E. & WING, S. R. (1983). Nocturnal aerial predation on fireflies by light-seeking fireflies. *Science* **222**, 634–635.
- LOCHMILLER, R. L. (1995). Testing the immunocompetence theory. *TREE* **10**, 372–373.
- MAC NALLY, R. & YOUNG, D. (1981). Song energetics of the bladder cicada, Cystosoma saundersii. J. Exp. Biol. 90, 185–196.
- MAGNHAGEN, C. (1991). Predation risk as a cost of reproduction. *TREE* **6**, 183–186.

- MAGURRAN, A. E. (1991). Another battle of the sexes: the consequences of sexual asymmetry in mating costs and predation risk in the guppy, *Poecilia reticulata. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 246, 31–38.
- MAGURRAN, A. E. & SEGHERS, B. H. (1990). Risk sensitive courtship in the guppy (*Poecilia reticulata*). *Behaviour* **112**, 194–201.
- MANGOLD, J. R. (1978). Attraction of *Euphasiopteyx ochracea* corethrella sp. and gryllids to broadcast songs of the southern mole cricket. *Fla. Ent.* **61**, 57–61.
- MAPPES, J., ALATALO, R. V., KOTIAHO, J. & PARRI, S. (1996). Viability costs of condition-dependent sexual male display in a drumming wolf spider. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 263, 785–789.
- MAYNARD SMITH, J. & HARPER, D. G. C. (1988). The evolution of aggression: can selection generate variability? *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B* **319**, 557–570.
- MCKAYE, K. R., LOUDA, S. & STAUFFER, J. R. JR. (1990). Bower size and male reproductive success in a cichlid fish lek. *Am. Nat.* 135, 597–613.
- MOODIE, G. E. E. (1972). Predation, natural selection and adaptation in an unusual threespine stickleback. *Heredity* 28, 155–167.
- Møller, A. P. (1989). Viability costs of male tail ornaments in a swallow. *Nature* **339**, 132–135.
- Møller, A. P. (1995). Hormones, handicaps and bright males. *TREE* **10**, 121.
- Møller, A. P. & Alatalo, R. V. (1999). Good-genes effects in sexual selection. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 266, 85–91.
- Møller, A. P. & DE LOPE, F. (1994). Differential costs of a secondary sexual character: an experimental test of the handicap principle. *Evolution* **48**, 1676–1683.
- Møller, A. P., KIMBALL, R. T. & Erritzøe, J. (1996). Sexual ornamentation, condition, and immune defence in the house sparrow *Passer domesticus*. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **39**, 317–322.
- MøLLER, A. P. & NIELSEN, J. T. (1997). Differential predation cost of a secondary sexual character: sparrowhawk predation on barn swallows. *Anim. Behav.* 54, 1545–1551.
- NUR, N. & HASSON, O. (1984). Phenotypic plasticity and the handicap principle. *7. theor. Biol.* **110**, 275–297.
- OLSSON, M. (1993). Nuptial coloration and predation risk in model sand lizards, *Lacerta agilis*. Anim. Behav. 46, 410–412.
- OWENS, I. P. F. & BENNETT, P. M. (1994). Mortality costs of parental care and sexual dimorphism in birds. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 257, 1–8.
- OWENS, I. P. F. & SHORT, R. V. (1995*a*). Hormonal basis of sexual dimorphism in birds: implications for new theories of sexual selection. *TREE* 10, 44–47.
- OWENS, I. P. F. & SHORT, R. V. (1995b). Hormones, handicaps and bright males. TREE 10, 121–122.
- PESCHKE, K. (1987). Male aggression, female mimicry and female choice in the rove beetle, *Aleochara curtula* (Coleoptera, Staphylinidae). *Ethology* **75**, 265–284.
- Роміанкоwsкі, А. (1987). Sexual selection: the handicap principle does work sometimes. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. В* 231, 123–145.
- Роміанкоwski, A., Iwasa, Y. & Nee, S. (1991). The evolution of costly mate preferences I. Fisher and biased mutation. *Evolution* **45**, 1422–1430.
- PRESTWICH, K. N. (1994). The energetics of acoustic signaling in anurans and insects. *Am. Zool.* **34**, 625–643.
- PRESTWICH, K. N., BRUGGER, K. E. & TOPPING, M. (1989). Energy and communication in three species of hylid frogs:

power input, power output and efficiency. J. Exp. Biol. 144, 53-80.

- PRESTWICH, K. N. & WALKER, T. J. (1981). Energetics of singing in crickets: effect of temperature in three trilling species (Orthoptera: Gryllidae). *J. Comp. Physiol.* 143, 199–212.
- PROMISLOW, D. E. L. (1992). Costs of sexual selection in natural populations of animals. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 247, 203–210.
- PROMISLOW, D. E. L., MONTGOMERIE, R. & MARTIN, T. E. (1992). Mortality costs of sexual dimorphism in birds. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* **250**, 143–150.
- RÅBERG, L., GRAHN, M., HASSELQUIST, D. & SVENSSON, E. (1998). On the adaptive significance of stress-induced immunosuppression. Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B 265, 1637–1641.
- REINHOLD, K., GREENFIELD, M. D., JANG, Y. & BROCE, A. (1998). Energetic cost of sexual attractiveness: ultrasonic advertisement in wax moths. *Anim. Behav.* 55, 905–913.
- REZNICK, D. (1992). Measuring the costs of reproduction. TREE 7, 42–45.
- ROTENBERRY, J. T., ZUK, M., SIMMONS, L. W. & HAYES, C. (1996). Phonotactic parasitoids and cricket song structure: an evaluation of alternative hypotheses. *Evol. Ecol.* **10**, 233–243.
- Rowe, L. & Houle, D. (1996). The lek paradox and the capture of genetic variance by condition dependent traits. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 263, 1415–1421.
- RYAN, M. (1988). Energy, calling and selection. Am. Zool. 28, 885–898.
- RYAN, M. J., TUTTLE, M. D. & RAND, A. S. (1982). Bat predation and sexual advertisement in a neotropical anuran. *Am. Nat.* **119**, 136–139.
- RYAN, M. J., TUTTLE, M. D. & TAFT, L. K. (1981). The costs and benefits of frog chorusing behavior. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 8, 273–278.
- SAINO, N., BOLZERN, A. M. & MØLLER, A. P. (1997a). Immunocompetence, ornamentation, and viability of male barn swallows (*Hirundo rustica*). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 94, 549–552.
- SAINO, N., GALEOTTI, P., SACCHI, R. & MØLLER, A. P. (1997b). Song and immunological condition in male barn swallows (*Hirundo rustica*). Behav. Ecol. 8, 364–371.
- SAINO, N. & MØLLER, A. P. (1996). Sexual ornamentation and immunocompetence in the barn swallow. *Behav. Ecol.* 7, 227–232.
- SAKALUK, S. K. (1990). Sexual selection and predation: Balancing reproductive and survival needs. In: *Insect Defences*. *Adaptive Mechanisms and Strategies of Prey and Predators* (Ed. by D. L. Evans and J. O. Schmidt), pp. 63–90. Albany: SUNY Press.
- SALVADOR, A., VEIGA, J. P., MARTIN, J., LOPEZ, P., ABELENDA, M. & PUERTA, M. (1996). The cost of producing a sexual signal: testosterone increases the susceptibility of male lizards to ectoparasitic infestation. *Behav. Ecol.* 7, 145–150.
- SHELDON, B. (2000). Differential allocation: tests, mechanisms and implications. *TREE* 15, 397–402.
- SHELDON, B. C. & VERHULST, S. (1996). Ecological immunology: costly parasite defence and trade-offs in evolutionary ecology. *TREE* 11, 317–321.
- SIMMONS, L. W. & BAILEY, W. J. (1993). Agonistic communication between males of a zaprochiline katydid (Orthoptera: Tettigoniidae). *Behav. Ecol.* 4, 364–368.
- SIMMONS, L. W., TOMKINS, J. L., KOTIAHO, J. S. & HUNT, J. (1999). Fluctuating paradigm. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* 266, 593–595.

- SIVA-JOTHY, M. T. (1995). 'Immunocompetence': conspicuous by its absence. *TREE* 10, 205–206.
- SKARSTEIN, F. (1996). Disentangling "good genes" from immunocompetence. Oikos 76, 199–200.
- SKARSTEIN, F. & FOLSTAD, I. (1996). Sexual dichromatism and the immunocompetence handicap: an observational approach using arctic charr. *Oikos* 76, 359–367.
- SPANGLER, H. G. (1984). Silence as a defence against predatory bats in two species of calling insects. *Southwest. Nat.* 29, 481–488.
- STEVENS, E. D. & JOSEPHSON, R. K. (1977). Metabolic rate and body temperature in singing katydids. *Physiol. Zool.* 50, 31–42.
- TAIGEN, T. L. & WELLS, K. D. (1985). Energetics of vocalizations by an anuran amphibian (*Hyla versicolor*). J. Comp. Physiol. 155, 163–170.
- TAIGEN, T. L., WELLS, K. D. & MARSH, R. L. (1985). The enzymatic basis of high metabolic rates in calling frogs. *Physiol. Zool.* 58, 719–726.
- TUTTLE, M. D. & RYAN, M. J. (1981). Bat predation and the evolution of frog vocalizations in the neotropics. *Science* 214, 677–678.
- VEHRENCAMP, S. L., BRADBURY, J. W. & GIBSON, R. M. (1989). The energetic cost of display in male sage grouse. *Anim. Behav.* 38, 885–896.
- VERRELL, P. A. (1991). Illegitimate exploitation of sexual signalling systems and the origin of species. *Ethology*, *Ecology* and *Evolution* 3, 273–283.
- WAGNER, W. E. J. (1996). Convergent song preferences between female field crickets and acoustically orienting parasitoid flies. *Behav. Ecol.* 7, 279–285.
- WALKER, T. J. (1964). Experimental demonstration of a cat locating orthopteran prey by the prey's calling song. *Fla. Ent.* 47, 163–165.
- WALKER, T. J. (1993). Phonotaxis in female Ormia ochrucea (Diptera: Tachinidae), a parasitoid of field crickets. *J. Insect Behav.* 6, 389–410.
- WATSON, P. J. & LIGHTON, J. R. B. (1994). Sexual selection and the energetics of copulatory courtship in the sierra dome spider, *Linyphila litigiosa. Anim. Behav.* 48, 615–626.
- WEDEKIND, C. & FOLSTAD, I. (1994). Adaptive or nonadaptive immunosuppression by sex hormones? Am. Nat. 143, 936–938.
- WEDELL, N. & TREGENZA, T. (1999). Successful fathers sire successful sons. *Evolution* 53, 620–625.
- WELLS, K. D. & TAIGEN, T. L. (1989). Calling energetics of a neotropical frog, *Hyla microcephala. Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* 25, 13–22.
- WESTNEAT, D. F. & BIRKHEAD, T. R. (1998). Alternative hypothesis linking the immune system and mate choice for good genes. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* **265**, 1065–1073.
- WILLIAMS, G. C. (1966). Adaptation and Natural Selection. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- ZAHAVI, A. (1975). Mate selection a selection for a handicap. *J. theor. Biol.* **53**, 205–214.
- ZAHAVI, A. (1977). The cost of honesty (further remarks on the handicap principle). *J. theor. Biol.* **67**, 603–605.
- ZUK, M. & JOHNSEN, T. S. (1998). Seasonal changes in the relationship between ornamentation and immune response in red jungle fowl. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* **265**, 1631–1635.
- ZUK, M., JOHNSEN, T. S. & MACLARTY, T. (1995*a*). Endocrineimmune interactions, ornaments and mate choice in red jungle fowl. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B* **260**, 205–210.
- ZUK, M. & KOLLURU, G. R. (1998). Exploitation of sexual

signals by predators and parasitoids. The Quarterly Review of Biology 73, 415–438.

ZUK, M., ROTENBERRY, J. T. & SIMMONS, L. W. (1998). Calling songs of field crickets (*Teleogryllus oceanicus*) with and without phonotactic parasitoid infection. *Evolution* 52, 166–171.

ZUK, M., SIMMONS, L. W. & CUPP, L. (1993). Calling charac-

teristics of parasitized and unparasitized populations of the field cricket *Teleogryllus oceanicus*. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.* **33**, 339–343.

ZUK, M., SIMMONS, L. W. & ROTENBERRY, J. T. (1995b). Acoustically-orienting parasitoids in calling and silent males of the field cricket *Teleogryllus oceanicus*. Ecol. Ent. 20, 380–383.